RECEIVED

Jul 26 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Letitia H. Verdin, Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000269
C.A. No. 2020CP1100632

Bobby E. Leopard, Luther Harris, and Donna Harris,

Appellants,

v.

Perry W. Barbour,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Submitted by:

s/Donald L. Smith

Donald L. Smith (Bar No.:6699)

122 N. Main Street

Anderson SC 29621

Telephone: (864) 642-9284

Facsimile: (864) 642-9285

attorneydonaldsmith@gmail.com

Attorney for Appellants

Anderson, South Carolina

July 26, 2021

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. **WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENT RELIEF FROM ENTRY OF DEFAULT.**
- II. **WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING RESPONDENT WAIVED HIS AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE.**
- III. **WHETHER THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL APPLIES IN THE INSTANT CASE.**
- IV. **THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN NOT APPLYING THE UNCLEAN HAND DOCTRINE AGAINST RESPONDENT.**

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 10, 2016, Appellants were traveling southbound on U.S. Interstate 85, when they came to a stop due to traffic which resulted from a motor vehicle accident further south on 85 in the County of Spartanburg, State of South Carolina. Respondent, driving a truck owned by Southland Transportation Company, was also traveling southbound on U.S. 85 at that time. Without warning, Respondent's truck smashed into the rear of Appellants' vehicle. The impact was such that all four (4) occupants were knocked out and found by the trooper in the grass outside the vehicle. As a result of Respondent's negligence, gross negligence and reckless acts, Appellants sustained injuries that necessitated medical attention.

On June 7, 2019, Appellants filed action for damages (hereinafter referred as Spartanburg action) against Respondent and Southland Transportation for the injuries they sustained as a result of the wreck. Unfortunately, negotiations with the carrier were delayed due to a variety of reasons offered by the adjuster, a workers' compensation claim which had yet to be resolved and a delay by the U.S. Postal Service in mailing the certified mailing done pursuant to the long-arm statute, all of which led to the Summons and Complaint being served beyond the prescribed period under Rule 3 of the SCRPC.

The aforementioned mailing delay caused the service for Southland Transportation Company to be received by the Secretary of State on Wednesday October 9, 2019. Based on Southland being incorporated in North Carolina, service could be made in that manner pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §15-9-245. The certified mailing was mailed on Friday October 4, 2019. However, the Anderson Post Office forwarded the certified letter, return receipt requested on Monday, October 7, 2019. The two-day delay resulted in the service being two days late.

On November 8, 2019, Mr. Alan Jones, Esquire of Turner Padgett Graham & Laney PA, filed an Answer and a Motion to Dismiss on behalf of Southland, alleging Appellants failed to properly and timely serve their Summons and Complaint. Southland contended it was not served within the period required under Rule 3 of the SCRCP. Appellants opposed Southland's Motion to Dismiss on November 26, 2019, invoking good cause and equity considerations.

Appellants thereafter attempted to serve Respondent through the Office of the General Counsel of the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicle (SCDMV), pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-350 in relation to §15-9-370. SCDMV accepted service on behalf Respondent and mailed the same to Respondent's residence. When the SCDMV attempted to notice Mr. Respondent that it accepted service on a lawsuit against him, it was returned to sender. (R., p. 96).

Respondent failed to respond to the lawsuit served upon him by and through the Office of General Counsel within thirty (30) days. Thereafter, Appellants moved for an Entry of Default. The Clerk recognized the default and scheduled an Order of Reference was clocked.

On December 23, 2019, nearly two (2) months after the last day to timely file a response, Mr. Jones filed a Motion to Dismiss, on behalf of Respondent, alleging a failure to properly and timely serve the Complaint. Mr. Jones was substituted by Mr. David L. Moore, Esquire, whose

main contention was the failure to serve the pleadings within the requisite 120-day period meant the case had never been commenced. The failure to commence implicitly said there had never been a case. Without a case, Appellants' argument regarding the fact Respondent had not timely raised his affirmative defenses relating to the Statute of Limitations and the related issue of service, was a nullity. On March 10, 2020, the Spartanburg Circuit court granted the Motion to Dismiss based on Rule (12)(b)(2), (4) and (5). The Spartanburg Circuit court ruled as follows:

The Respondents' **MOTION to DISMISS** pursuant to Rules **12(b)(2), (4), and (5)**, SCRCF, should be and **IS** therefore **GRANTED** for failure of the Appellants to commence this action with effective service upon the Respondents within the applicable limitations period.

(R., p. 99).

Appellants moved for reconsideration of the Order on March 20, 2020, which was subsequently denied. Appellants appealed the Spartanburg action against Southland and Respondent.

Pursuant to the Order, dated March 10, 2020, Appellants filed the instant case on August 27, 2020. (R., p. 17). On September 15, 2020, Appellants served the Summons and Complaint on the SCDMV via certified mail. SCDMV sent Respondent a copy of the processes, but the same was returned to its office marked "Return to Sender Not Deliverable as Addressed Unable to Forward" on September 25, 2020. Since he had not changed his address, there was nowhere to forward the mailing.

After complying with the requirements of Section 15-9-380 of the 1976 Code of Laws and a lapse of more than thirty (30) days upon filing of the Complaint, Appellants filed an Affidavit of Default on November 10, 2020 (R., p. 26), and moved for Order of Entry of Default

on November 28, 2020. (R., p. 28). On December 16, 2020, this court issued its Order of Default and Order for Hearing to Ascertain Damages. (R., p. 10).

Five (5) days prior to the scheduled damages hearing, Mr. Moore, Esquire filed a Rule 55 (c) SCRCP Motion to Vacate Entry of Default and Motion to Dismiss on February 11, 2021. (R., pp. 32-38 & pp. 45-46). He also belatedly filed an Answer on the same date. (R., pp. 40-43). The goal of these two (2) motions was to deny Appellants their right to be compensated for the injuries sustained at the hands of Respondent. The Court ruled in favor of Respondent's position, which Appellants moved for reconsideration. (R., p. 62-81). The Court denied said reconsideration in its Order, dated March 9, 2021. (R., p. 2-4).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely within the sound discretion of the Circuit judge. *Harbor Island Owners' Ass'n v. Preferred Island Props., Inc.*, 369 S.C. 540, 544, 633 S.E.2d 497, 499 (2006). The Circuit court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Mitchell Supply Co., Inc. v. Gaffney*, 297 S.C. 160, 162-63, 375 S.E.2d 321, 322-23 (Ct. App. 1988). An abuse of discretion occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *In re Estate of Weeks*, 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E.2d 454, 459 (Ct. App. 1997).

ARGUMENTS

I.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENT RELIEF FROM ENTRY OF DEFAULT.

Appellants aver the Circuit Court erred in granting Respondent relief from entry of default based on procedural and substantial laws.

A. The Circuit Court applied the wrong standard.

Appellants submit the Circuit Court had mistakenly applied the wrong standard in vacating the entry of default against Respondent. In the instant case, default order has been entered against Respondent on December 16, 2020. (R., p. 10-12). Respondent sought relief from judgment by moving to vacate the default order under Rule 55 (c) of the SCRCP. (R., p. 31-38). But since an Order of Default has already been entered, Respondent should have applied Rule 60(b) instead. Therefore, his reliance on Rule 55(c) SCRCP and the “good cause” standard was incorrect.

In the case of *Sundown v. Intedge Industries*, the Court differentiated the standard for granting relief from judgment under Rule 55(c) and Rule 60(b) of the SCRCP. *Sundown v. Intedge Industries*, 383 S.C. 601 (S.C. 2009). To quote:

The standard for granting relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) is mere "good cause." Rule 55(c), SCRCP. This standard requires a party seeking relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice. Once a party has put forth a satisfactory explanation for the default, the Circuit court must also consider: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the Respondent has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted. *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501-02 (Ct. App. 1989). The Circuit court need not make specific findings of fact for each factor if there is sufficient evidentiary support on the record for the finding of the lack of good cause. *Dixon v. Besco Engineering, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 174, 179, 463 S.E.2d 636, 639 (Ct. App. 1995). A motion under Rule 55(c) is addressed to the sound discretion of the Circuit court. *Williams v. Stalaker*, 312 S.C. 373, 375, 440 S.E.2d 408, 409 (Ct. App. 1994).

Once a default judgment has been entered, a party seeking to be relieved must do so under Rule 60(b), SCRCP. The standard for granting relief from a default judgment under Rule 60(b) is more rigorous than the "good cause" standard established in Rule

55(c). *Ricks v. Weinrauch*, 293 S.C. 372, 374, 360 S.E.2d 535, 536 (Ct. App. 1987). Rule 60(b) requires a more particularized showing of mistake, inadvertence, excusable neglect, surprise, newly discovered evidence, fraud, misrepresentation, or "other misconduct of an adverse party." Rule 60(b), SCRCP. The different standards under the two rules underscore the clear intent to make it more difficult for a party to avoid a default once the court has entered a judgment, which carries greater finality, and often occurs later than, a clerk's entry of default.

Sundown, supra.

Furthermore, Respondent is not entitled to relief from the default order under Rule 60(b) since the Rule requires a more stringent standard. In this case, Respondent has not alleged any mistake, inadvertence, excusable neglect, surprise, newly discovered evidence, fraud, misrepresentation or misconduct on the part of Appellants to warrant a relief from the order in his favor. In fact, if there is any misconduct involved in this case, it is that of Respondent's deliberate and knowing disregard of traffic laws.

B. Respondent did not satisfy the WHAM factors.

In its Form 4/Order, the Circuit Court granted Respondent's Motion to Vacate Entry of Default, ruling that Appellants failed to establish the WHAM factors. Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc., 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501-02 (Ct. App. 1989). Appellants argue otherwise.

In granting relief for entry of default under Rule 55(c) of the SCRCP, courts rely on a two-step analysis: first is to provide for a "good cause" explanation for the default; and then satisfy the three (3) factors mentioned in the Wham case: (a) timeliness; (b) meritorious defense; and, (3) degree of prejudice to Appellants Wham, supra. Respondent failed to satisfy all three (3) aforementioned factors.

1. Respondent has not established good cause for the delay.

Respondent failed to file an answer, any responsive pleading or a motion to dismiss within thirty (30) days of the service of summons and complaint upon him, through the SCDMV. By law, Respondents were in default. Appellants were exercising their right under the law, to move for (and obtain) an entry of default.

Furthermore, Respondent has not presented a satisfactory explanation for not filing a responsive pleading, and for the default. Neither did he offer a notarized affidavit explaining his failure to respond within 30 days.

Respondent contends Appellants failed to and/or did not attempt to determine his correct address. This argument is a clear attempt to shift the burden onto Appellants. It is not, nor may it be considered, a good cause to relieve Respondent from default. Respondent was served by certified mail and through the SCDMV according to the laws of the State. Rule 4 SCRCPC and SC Code Ann. § 15-9-370.

By asking Appellants to locate Respondent's correct address, Mr. Moore and the insurance carrier placed a heavy burden upon Appellants who have already suffered from Respondent's grossly negligent and/or reckless acts.

2. Respondent failed to establish the WHAM factors.

Appellants posit Respondent did not establish any of the WHAM factors in his motion.

a) Timeliness of the motion

The facts of the case show the following:

- i. On August 27, 2020, Appellants filed the Summons and Complaint.
- ii. On September 15, 2020, the processes were served to Respondent through SCDMV
- iii. Thirty-days elapsed with Respondent not filing any Answer, responsive pleading or a motion.
- iv. On November 10, 2020, Appellants filed an Affidavit of Default, and moved for Entry of Default on November 28, 2020.

- v. On December 16, 2020, the Circuit Court entered an Order of Default and Order for Hearing to Ascertain Damages.
- vi. On February 11, 2021, Respondent filed Motion to Vacate the Entry of Default as well as moved for the dismissal of the case.
- vii. On February 16, 2021, Circuit Court granted Respondent's Motion to Vacate Entry of Default.

It took Respondent four (4) months to address Appellants' Complaint, and two (2) months to respond to Plaintiff's Affidavit and Motions. Respondent took an inordinately long time in filing his Motion to Vacate and/or Set Aside Judgment.

While Rule 55(c) does not provide a specific time limit for the filing of a motion to set aside an entry of default, South Carolina courts have decided in several cases that a two-month gap between the entry of default and the motion to set aside is not a timely filing. Consolidated Masonry & Fireproofing, Inc., 383 F.2d 249, 251 (4th Cir. 1967). See also Nelson v. The Coleman Co., 41 F.R.D. 7 (D. S.C. 1966) (Simons, J) (even short delay not excused where circumstances showed lack of intent to act promptly). The Courts in the cases of Richardson v. P.V. 383 S.C. 610, 613 (S.C. 2009), and Rodriguez v. Gutierrez, 391 S.C. 323 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011) denied relief to the movants who filed their respective motion two (2) months from the entry of default.

In sum, Respondent failed to act promptly in seeking relief.

b. Meritorious Defense

Mr. Moore, purportedly representing Respondent, raised several defenses such as statute of limitations, pendency of a similar action on appeal, and failure of service.

In his Memorandum in Support of Respondent's Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default, Respondent raised the defense of statute of limitations barring the present action. (R., p. 35). However, this defense has been waived when Respondent failed to file his answer or motion

within the period set forth by law, thereby making the insufficiency of service, and the associated statute of limitations, moot.

On the issue of pendency of appealed action, Mr. Moore who represented the employer in the Spartanburg case, took the position that no such action commenced. In the instant case however, Mr. Moore cited the Spartanburg as a prior action to support his attempt for relief from default judgment, in effect recognizing the existence of the Spartanburg action. Respondent should not be permitted to employ conflicting theories or to change his theory of the case. This practice has been frowned upon by the Court in the case of *Hayne Federal Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242 (S.C. 1997). The Court ruled:

It is certainly conceivable that parties may want to present novel legal theories, which may require changing one's previous legal theory. However, the truth-seeking function of the judicial process is undermined if parties are allowed to change positions as to the facts of the case, unless compelled by newly discovered evidence.

Ibid.

There is no newly discovered evidence presented in this case. And more importantly, the dismissal of the Spartanburg action was without prejudice to filing another action. Thus, the pendency of an appeal on the Spartanburg action is not a good defense to the plaintiff's claims that might allow you to avoid liability altogether.

Furthermore, in both the Spartanburg action and in the present case, Respondent has not provided a defense for his grossly negligent and/or reckless driving that caused severe physical injuries on Appellants. Respondent has shrouded himself with procedural arguments, never addressing the substance of the claims raised against him.

Finally, Mr. Moore contends he was not provided a copy of the Complaint, despite his involvement in the Spartanburg action. Appellants however treated the instant case as a new action based on Mr. Moore's theory that the Spartanburg action has not commenced.

Appellants served Respondent, through the SCDMV as required under SC Code Ann. § 15-9-370, in relation to Rule 4(d)(7) of the SCRCP. Nothing in the law mandates Appellants to deliver a copy of the Summons and Complaint upon Mr. Moore, who has not established his authority to represent Respondent, either by appointment or by law. To impose additional requirements upon Appellants is to burden them for abiding by the law.

c. Prejudice to Appellants

Appellants believe they would be highly prejudiced with the setting aside of the entry of default. It would close the door for Appellants to pursue their claims against Respondent. Appellants have sustained injuries which necessitated medical attention that continues to date. They had to endure physical pain and suffering as well as financial difficulties due to this protracted litigation.

Appellants maintain Respondent should not be allowed to succeed in avoiding his liability, while violating the very same procedural laws he takes refuge on.

II.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING RESPONDENT HAS WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO RAISE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE.

In seeking to have the Default Order (Judgment) against him set aside, Respondent raised the defense of the pendency of an action involving the same parties. Appellants assert Respondent has waived his right to such action.

The law is well-settled that failure to raise objections under Rule 12(b)(2) through (5) in either a responsive pleading or by Rule 12(b) motion will waive the right to make an objection. Rule 12(h) South Carolina Rules on Civil Procedure (SCRCP).

The instant Complaint was filed on August 27, 2020 and served upon Respondent, by and through the Office of the General Counsel of South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicle (hereinafter referred as SCDMV). SCDMV General Counsel accepted service on September 18, 2020. No Answer or any responsive pleadings was filed by or on behalf of Barbour within the 30-day prescribed period by law. On December 16, 2020, Appellants obtained an Order of Default for Respondent's failure to file any responsive pleadings within the time requirement.

On February 11, 2021, one hundred sixty-eight days (168) days after the filing of the Complaint, Respondent filed his Motion to Vacate or Set Aside Default Judgment, Motion to Dismiss and Answer. In all three pleadings, Respondent raised the defense of pendency of action (appeal) between same parties and statute of limitations. Rule 12 (h)(1) of SCRCP¹ specifically includes pendency of action as one of the waivable defenses, while Rule 8 (c) SCRCP² considers statute of limitations as an affirmative defense which must be specifically pled.

¹ Rule 12(h)(1) A defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person, improper venue, insufficiency of process, insufficiency of service of process, or that another action is pending between the same parties for the same claim is waived (A) if omitted from a motion in the circumstances described in subdivision (g) or (B) if it is neither made by motion under this rule nor included in a responsive pleading or an amendment thereof permitted by Rule 15(a) to be made as a matter of course.

² **Rule 8(c) Affirmative Defenses; Reply.** In pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively the defenses: accord and satisfaction, arbitration and award, assumption of risk, condonation, contributory negligence, discharge in bankruptcy, duress, fraud, illegality, injury by fellow servant, laches, license, misrepresentation, mistake, payment, plene administravit or the administration of the estate is closed, recrimination, release, res judicata, statute of frauds, statute of limitations, waiver, and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense. When a party has mistakenly designated a defense as a counterclaim or a counterclaim as a defense, the court shall treat the pleading as if there had been a proper designation. A party may file a reply to any of the foregoing affirmative defenses.

Under the Rule, a Respondent must file an Answer within 30-day period. A Motion to Dismiss, under Rule 12(b) must be made before answering, and within the time-period for answering, the Complaint. Based on the service date of September 18, 2020, Respondent's Motion to Dismiss must have been filed by October 18, 2020. The February 11, 2021 filing, therefore, was untimely, resulting in a waiver of defenses Rules 12(b)(2), (4), and (5), SCRC, relied upon by the Court in its decision. Respondent cannot now be awarded for sleeping on his rights by granting him relief based on defenses he has waived.

Respondent did not have the defenses used by the Court in dismissing Appellants' claims at his disposal. His failure to respond within 30 days failed to preserve his defenses, thereby waiving them.

III.

EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL MAY BE APPLIED IN THE INSTANT CASE PRECLUDING THE APPLICATION OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

A. Equitable estoppel precludes Respondent's Defenses.

Appellants submit the mere allegation of statute of limitations does not automatically warrant dismissal of a case. Appellants submit the doctrine of equitable estoppel applies in the instant case. Under South Carolina law:

A Respondent may be estopped from claiming the statute of limitations as a defense if the delay that otherwise would give operation to the statute had been induced by the Respondent's conduct. Such inducement may consist of an express representation that the claim will be settled without litigation or conduct that suggests a lawsuit is not necessary. The Respondent's conduct may also involve inducing the plaintiff either to believe that an amicable adjustment of the claim will be made without suit or to forbear exercising the right to sue.

Kleckley v. Nw. Nat. Cas. Co., 338 S.C. 131, 136--137 (2000).

Appellants aver they complied with South Carolina procedural rules when they initially brought their claims against Respondent in Spartanburg. They were prevented from pursuing the same due to Respondent's inaccurate mailing address.

Appellants have shown Respondent had a propensity not only in driving recklessly but also in intentionally providing incorrect mailing address and/or contact detail in his driver's license to avoid prosecution. Appellants discovered Respondent has had a significant number of traffic incidents, a majority of which have been tried in his absence.

date	city/county	state	charge	case #	outcome
9/20/08		Virginia	Failure to obey highway sign	071GT0800453100	Guilty in absentia
10/19/07	Henry	Virginia	Speeding 48/35	089GT0700797900	Guilty in absentia
10/19/07	Henry	Virginia	Seat belt violation	089GT0700798000	Guilty in absentia
8/28/07	Mecklenburg	Virginia	Brakes-inoperative or missing	117GT0701512200	Guilty in absentia
9/17/07	Montgomery	Virginia	Defective equipment generally	121GT0701637400	Guilty
9/30/03	Patrick	Virginia	Oper w/radar detect/jam device	141GT0300129200	Prepaid-Fine
5/28/04	Patrick	Virginia	Speeding 74/55	141GT0400068000	Guilty in absentia
5/2/06	Southampton	Virginia	Failure to obey highway sign sleep	175GT0600711000	Guilty in absentia
1/16/08	Danville City	Virginia	Speeding 55/40	590GT0800067700	Guilty
		Kentucky	Driving on suspended	10-T-00307	
6/16/16	Spartanburg	South Carolina	Driving vehicle at greater speed than is re	5102P0362799	Guilty in absentia
6/23/11		Virginia	No county or city tag	GT11004149-00	Guilty in absentia
5/2/06	Southampton	Virginia	Failure to obey high-sign sleep	175GT0600711000	Guilty in absentia
9/10/07	Mecklenburg	Virginia	Brakes-inoperative or missing	117GT0701512200	Guilty in absentia

6/12/15	Danville City	Virginia	Speeding 53/40	590GT15006703- 00	Guilty in absentia
1/21/95		Virginia	Illegal sun-shading	089GT9500043700	Guilty in absentia

Clearly, Respondent is a habitual traffic violator, which his employer knew or should have known. They hired him to drive a semi for them. They disregarded his driving record and allowed him to drive a deadly weapon.

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