RECEIVED

Jun 09 2021

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Letitia H. Verdin, Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000269
C.A. Case No.: 2020-CP-11-00632

Bobby E. Leopard, Luther Harris, and Donna Harris Appellants,

v.

Perry W. Barbour, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David L. Moore, Jr.
SC Bar No. 4050
Turner, Padget, Graham & Laney, P.A.
P.O. Box 1509
Greenville, SC 29602
864-552-4625
dmoore@turnerpadget.com

Attorneys for Respondent Perry Barbour

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT "GOOD CAUSE" EXISTED TO PERMIT THE ENTRY OF DEFAULT TO BE SET ASIDE AND AN ANSWER FILED.

Pursuant to Rule 55, SCRCP, a court may, for good cause shown, set aside an entry of default. Pursuant to this rule, Respondent moved to set aside the entry of default in this case based upon the fact that Appellants had attempted to serve Respondent at an address known to be outdated, while another case involving the same parties and facts was pending on appeal (Notice of Appeal for Spartanburg County case). Respondent further demonstrated that he acted as quickly as it was determined that a second suit was filed and set forth the existence of a valid affirmative defense (Motion to Set Aside). The circuit court, acting within its discretion, agreed that the entry of default should be set aside (Order of 2/16/21).

Appellants initially argue that the circuit court applied that wrong standard, asserting that because an entry of default had been entered, the more rigorous standard of Rule 60, SCRCP, should have been utilized. Appellants are confused. Rule 60 provides that a court may relieve a party from a final judgment, order, or proceeding upon a showing of mistake, inadvertence,

decision of whether to set aside the default:

1. the timing of the Motion for Relief
2. the evidence of a meritorious defense; and
3. the degree of prejudice to the Plaintiff if relief is granted

Appellants argue that the Motion to set aside default was made fifty-seven (57) days after the entry of default. They ignore the fact that notice of the entry of default was received only after a February 1, 2021 letter from Appellants' attorney was received. According to Maxwell v. Genez, 350 SC 563, 567 S.E. 2d 496 (Ct. App. 2002), the focus of the court with regard to the timeliness of a motion is upon when the response was made after notice was received. Obviously, if notice has not been received, then a defaulting party cannot act to protect his rights. On the other hand, a court will not grant equitable relief where a party procrastinates and sits on his rights. In this case, the response was timely based upon when notice was received.

Appellants go on to argue that a meritorious defense was lacking. This argument disregards the assertion that filing was not made within the statute of limitations and the assertion of another pending action involving the same parties and same accident (Respondent's Answer). Appellants argue that these affirmative defenses have been waived due to the default. The argument is circular in nature. The proposed Answer was submitted to demonstrate that there existed valid, affirmative defenses to be considered if the default were to be set aside. The existence of these potential affirmative defenses was a factor to be considered if the default was to be set aside. Appellants argue illogically that because there was a default, these defenses may not be considered.

Appellants also argue that the defense asserting that another case involving the same

parties and facts is pending cannot be utilized as a potential affirmative defense since that case was dismissed without prejudice. The prior case was in fact dismissed without prejudice since it had not been properly commenced due to the Appellants' failure to properly serve the defendants in that case (Spartanburg County Order dismissing case). According to Appellants' argument, if the case was not commenced, it does not exist. However, this argument ignores the fact that the Order dismissing the prior case is the subject of an ongoing appeal. Until that appeal is resolved, the prior Order of dismissal is not final and could be subject to change. For example, if Appellants were to prevail in that appeal, the matter would necessarily be remanded to Spartanburg County for potential trial while the present action is possibly still pending.

Finally, Appellants argue they have been prejudiced by the dismissal of their claim due to their inability to recover damages through a judgment. However, this is not the type of prejudice the Wham Court envisioned. Instead, there must be some type of prejudice due to lost witnesses or evidence or inability to conduct discovery if the matter reinstated. See Maxwell v. Genez, supra. In the instant case there is no evidence of any lost witness, evidence or discovery opportunity. In fact, at the time the motion to set aside the default was made, the courts had been dramatically slowed due to the Covid-19 pandemic with little to no opportunity for trial. As a result, any time lost in pursuing litigation was inconsequential and not prejudicial.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THE EXISTENCE OF VIABLE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES WARRANTED VACATING THE ENTRY OF DEFAULT

Pursuant to Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc., supra, one of the factors to be considered by a court in determining whether "good cause" exists to permit a default to be set

aside is whether the defendant has a meritorious defense. Appellants argue that all meritorious defenses were waived by virtue of the default. In other words, a default exists because meritorious defenses were not timely raised; in order to have an entry of default set aside, there must be a showing of the existence of a meritorious defense; however, because the default serves as a waiver of all defenses, no meritorious defense can be asserted. The argument is circular and would preclude the possibility of default ever being set aside.

Respondent submitted a proposed Answer with his motion to set aside the default, including a general denial, pendency of another action with same parties and issues, and the three-year statute of limitations (Respondent's Answer). These meritorious defenses demonstrated to the court the existence of the Respondent's basis for conflict resolution through litigation. Appellants' argument would be applicable only after the circuit court determined that setting aside the default was inappropriate. The determination to set aside a default is based in part upon the evidence of meritorious defenses. Once the default is set aside, there would no longer be a waiver since the default no longer exists. However, if the determination had been to deny the motion to set aside the default, then the Appellants' argument regarding waiver would have been controlling. Since the circuit court, in its discretion, ruled that the entry of default should be set aside, it could then consider the asserted affirmative defenses.

III. IN THE ABSENCE OF ANY ACT OR REPRESENTATION BY THE RESPONDENT WHICH CAUSED THE APPELLANTS TO COMMENCE THEIR ACTION AFTER THE TIME ALLOTTED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL TOLLING THAT STATUTE IS INAPPROPRIATE.

The Appellants sustained injuries in a vehicular accident occurring on June 10, 2016

(Complaint). They filed their Complaint in Cherokee County on August 27, 2020 (Complaint), more than four years after their accident and beyond the three-year statute established by section 15-3-530, S.C. Code (1976, as amended). Based upon these undisputed facts the circuit court dismissed the action.

Appellants now argue that the statute of limitations should have been tolled under the doctrine of equitable estoppel. Under South Carolina law, a party may be estopped from asserting the statute of limitations as a defense if the delay that otherwise would give operation to the statute has been induced by the defendant's actions. Kleckley v. Northwestern Nat. Cas. Co., 338 S.C. 131, 526 S.E. 2d 218 (2000). In order for equitable estoppel to be applicable, however, the party to be estopped must have misrepresented or concealed material facts which were unknowingly relied upon by the aggrieved party. Maher v. Tietex Corp., 331 S.C. 391, 500 S.E. 2d 204 (Ct. App. 1998). Appellants assert that they were misled by the failure of the Respondent to update his mailing address in order that they might properly serve him.

It must first be noted that Appellants' assertions have to do with their failure to timely serve the Respondent in the Spartanburg action, which is the subject of another appeal. As noted in that appeal, Appellants failed to properly commence their action due to a failure to timely serve the Respondent due to their procrastination in initiating service under section 15-3-350, S.C. Code (1976, as amended). Section 15-3-350 provides for substitute service when certain conditions are met. Pursuant to section 15-3-380, if the attempt to serve an individual under section 15-3-350 is unsuccessful, the envelope in which service by certified mail was attempted and affidavits of mailing are then filed with the Clerk of Court. Pursuant to section 15-3-380, when the envelope and affidavit have been filed, "the filing thereof shall have the same force and

legal affect as if such process had been personally served upon such defendant.” In other words, actual service upon the defendant would no longer be necessary. This is in fact the procedure followed by Respondents in this instance.

Because it was unnecessary to actually serve the Respondent, so long as substitute service pursuant to sections 15-3-350 and 15-3-380 are adhered to, Appellants’ arguments regarding equitable estoppel are of no consequence since there was no reliance upon the outdated address in this instance. Instead, Appellants filed this action after the statute of limitations had passed. Their arguments regarding estoppel are concerned with service rather than filing. Pursuant to Rule 3, SCRCF, to commence an action requires both timely filing and service. Because filing with the Cherokee County action was not timely, any delay with service was of no consequence.

Appellants go on to argue, however, asserting the “interest of justice” doctrine utilized in New York, that the court should have allowed the action to move forward. See Henneberry v. Borstein, 91 A.D. 3d 493, 937 N.Y. S. 2d 177 (2012). Pursuant to rule in New York, a court, upon good cause or in the interest of justice, is to extend the time for service. South Carolina does not recognize the extension of time for “the interest of justice”. Moreover, the New York rule applies to the extension of time for service. Appellants’ problem in this case is that filing was not made within the applicable statute of limitations. Even the New York rule would not help.

IV. THE DOCTRINE OF UNCLEAN HANDS IS INAPPLICABLE WHERE THE ASSERTED CONDUCT IS UNRELATED TO THE ISSUE PRESENTED.

Finally, appellants argue that the equitable doctrine of unclean hands should act to preclude the affirmative application of the statute of limitations. Appellants again rely upon the


alleged failure of the Respondent to file a change of address so that he might properly be served. As noted above, the statutory substitute service utilized by Appellants in this action does not mandate personal service if the applicable statutes are complied with. Moreover, the statute of limitations is applicable in this case because suit was not timely filed. As a result, any misdirection caused by a failure to file a change of address would have nothing to do with the dismissal based upon the statute of limitations. The equitable maxim of clean hands is not to be utilized by reason of acts unconnected to the transaction giving rise to the defense. See 27 Am. Jur. 2d Equity §142.

CONCLUSION

The granting of a motion to set aside an entry of default is based upon the “good cause” standard established under Rule 55 (c), SCRCP. This rule is to be liberally construed to promote justice and dispose of cases on their merits. In re Estate of Weeks, supra. The decision on whether to grant relief is solely within the discretion of the trial judge. Maxwell v. Genez, supra. Appellants have failed to demonstrate that the trial court relied upon inadequate facts or improper law and therefore the ruling on the motion to set aside the entry of default should be affirmed. Likewise, the dismissal of the case due to violation of the applicable statute of limitations should be affirmed since the undisputed facts confirm its application and Appellants’ argument on clean hands and equitable estoppel are irrelevant as to timely filing.

TURNER PADGET GRAHAM & LANEY, P.A.

June 9, 2021